
 
 

 
 

 
Town of Brunswick, Maine 

 

INCORPORATED 1739 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
85 UNION STREET, SUITE 216 

BRUNSWICK, ME  04011 
 

 
 

ANNA M. BREINICH, FAICP PHONE: 207-725-6660 
DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT FAX: 207-725-6663 

 

 

VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 85 UNION STREET 
WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 26, 2016, 5:00 PM 

 
 

1. Case # VRB 16-038 – 14 Maine Street (Frontier at Fort Andross) – The Board will discuss and take 
action on a request for a Certificate of Appropriateness for proposed renovations to a structure located at 
14 Maine Street Street (Map U14, Lot 148). 

 
2. 9/12/16 Workshop Follow-up 

 
3. Approval of Minutes 

 
Staff Approvals: None 
 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
This agenda is being mailed to all abutters within 200 feet of the above referenced locations for Certificate of 
Appropriateness requests and serves as public notice for said meeting. Village Review Board meetings are open to the 
public. Please call the Brunswick Department of Planning and Development (725-6660) with questions or comments.  
This meeting will to be televised. 





































Draft 2 

1 
 

 
VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 

JULY 19, 2016 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Chair Gary Massanek, Vice Chair Connie Lundquist, Laura 
Lienert, and Annee Tara 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT: Karen Topp, Emily Swan and Brooks Stoddard 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Director of Planning and Development, Anna Breinich 
 
A meeting of the Village Review Board was held on Tuesday, July 19, 2016 at the 
Municipal Meeting Facility at 85 Union Street, Council Chambers. Chair Gary Massanek 
called the meeting to order at 7:15 P.M. 
 
1. Case # VRB 16-023 – 15 Bath Road (90-Day Demolition Delay begun 6/21/16) – 
The Board will receive a progress update and consult with the applicant per Section 
216.8.B.2.c.1) b) ii) (Additional Processing Requirements for Relocation or Demolition 
Activities).  The applicant, Bowdoin College, has requested a Certificate of 
Appropriateness for the demolition of a residential structure at 15 Bath Road (Map U08, 
Lot 108), located within the federally-designated Federal Street Historic District.    
 
Anna Breinich reviewed the 90-day delay period for 15 Bath Road that began on June 21, 
2016 and reviewed her MEMO to the Board dated July 15, 2016.  Catherine Ferdinand of 
Bowdoin College, presented a PowerPoint presentation addressing the concerns of the 
Deputy Fire Chief as well as an update of where they are in addressing the terms of the 
Brunswick Zoning Ordinance. Laura Lienert asked if they had heard anything back from 
the Maine Historical Preservation Commission or Maine Preservation. Catherine replied 
that they have not received anything back yet, but have based much of their photo 
documentation upon discussion with Kirk Mohney (of Maine Historic Preservation) and 
Larissa Picard (of Maine Preservation).  Gary Massanek said that the College has 
addressed the topic of relocation and asked if they have given thought of possibly selling 
this building to a buyer interested in rehabilitating the structure.  Catherine replied that 
the land under the building would not be offered, but if someone wants to move the 
building then they would consider selling it. Connie Lundquist asked if Bowdoin has 
considered moving the building.  Catherine replied that they have not and will not be 
considering this as an option.   
 
Chair Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment period was closed.   
 
Paul Becker of Becker Engineering provided a PowerPoint presentation reviewing the 
structural inspection of the building in more depth and detail.  Paul said that the building 
has structural issues and contamination issues stemming from a leaking roof, settlement, 
and contamination issues that cannot be contained by cleaning methods.  Annee Tara 
asked about the value of the property.  Paul replied that he is going on purchase cost.  



Draft 2 

2 
 

Annee asked if she was correct in that Bowdoin has no plans to move the building or 
keep it in its current location.  Catherine Ferdinand replied that given the conditions of 
the building, they do not have a use for a building of this size in this or any location and 
would most likely build something if they needed to.  Anna Breinich said that she has 
checked with the Deputy Fire Chief and he stated that he was happy with the cleanup that 
was done on the property but he does not want a site walk inside the building.  Connie 
Lundquist asked if potential buyers could go inside.  Catherine replied that she was told 
by the Deputy Fire Chief that he would make allowances, but she is still waiting for a 
letter stating this. Laura Lienert asked if the Board would want Bowdoin to advertise into 
September as they have stated that they have a cutoff date of August 30th.  Laura 
suggested that Bowdoin advertise until the end of the 90 days, September 19th.  Catherine 
replied that if the Board wants the advertising until the 19th then they will do so.  Laura 
asked if there is no buyer and the VRB chooses demolition, how long does the “green 
space” last; when could they potential build on this lot?  Anna replied that if Bowdoin 
decided to build, they would need to come back to the VRB.             
 
2. Case # VRB 16-024 – 185 Park Row – The Board will discuss and take action on a 
Certificate of Appropriateness for proposed renovations to front staircase at 185 Park 
Row (Map U08, Lot 111), located within the federally-designated Federal Street Historic 
District.    
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application for renovations to the front landing and 
staircase at 185 Park Row and reviewed the project summary dated July 19, 2016. Anna 
said that at this time they have not identified the material for the railing. 
 
Applicant representative, Dee Perry, said that the brick / concrete stairway is falling apart 
and they propose to replace this will granite. Dee said that the rail will be steel, similar in 
style to what is currently there, but will be custom made after the steps are in place.  
Laura Lieneret asked how big the landing currently is.  Dee replied that she does not have 
those dimensions, but added that the architect explained that the landing did not need to 
be the same size as it currently is because the door swings in.  This building was 
originally residential and the door did not swing in.  Connie Lundquist asked if they 
attempted to see what the stairway was originally.  Dee replied that she did go back to the 
Historic Preservation Survey, but the pictures were not very clear.  Anna Breinich replied 
that staff went back to the 1954 tax card and the photos.  The photos look like granite and 
the tax card states that they are granite. Connie asked if there were any indications of 
size.  Anna replied that you could not really tell as there was either difficulty with the 
angle or trees in the way; no size was listed on the card.  Connie asked the applicant if 
she knew the size of the proposed stairway / landing. Dee added that the dimensions for 
the granite were included in the packet.  Annee Tara pointed out that in Staff Review, 
someone hinted that the proposed stairway would be smaller.  Anna replied that this was 
an eyeball estimate, but that they would probably be taking about a foot off on each side.  
Annee asked if concrete or granite are historically accurate for this building.  Gary 
replied that it is not original. Dee said that the building was rehabilitated in the mid 
1990’s and added that the walkway would remain brick. 
 



Draft 2 

3 
 

Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment period was claosed.  
 
Laura Lienert asked if Board members felt that the railings could be more appropriate 
then the dated railing design.  Gary Massanek agreed that they could do something better 
in terms of the railing design.  Dee Perry said that she believes the owners are open to 
suggestion for the railings and anticipate the railings being done on-site.  Gary asked if 
the applicant would replacing the rail along the walkway.  Dee replied that she is sure 
that they would want the stair rail to match the walkway rail.  Gary asked if they needed 
the walkway rail.  Dee replied that there is a slight incline.  Anna noted that there is a 
difference in the railing on the steps and the railing along the walkway.  Connie stated 
that she does not feel that this application is compete as they do not know what the 
railings will look like.  Laura agreed with Connie. Dee asked what the Board would like 
to see for a railing.  Connie said that the applicant might want to research what a railing 
would look like in 1798.  Laura pointed out that the rendition does not show the railing 
along the walkway and suggested that the applicant discuss this as well. Gary said that he 
does not believe that the application is incomplete, but does agree that they need more 
information.  Anna reviewed what is required to deem an application complete.  After 
reviewing the requirements, Gary, Connie and Laura agreed that they feel as though the 
application is incomplete and a unanimous decision to table the application was made.   
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST TO TABLE THE APPLICATION TO THE 
NEXT SCHEDULED MEETING.  MOTION SECONDED BY LAURA LIENERT, 
MOVED UNANIMOUSLY.     
 
3. Case # VRB 16-025 – 124 Maine Street (Senter Place) – The Board will discuss and 
take action on a Certificate of Appropriateness for a partial roof replacement at 124 
Maine Street (Map U13, Lot 66), located within the federally-designated Brunswick 
Commercial Historic District.    
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application to replace 1937 clay roofing with metal roofing 
at 112-124 Maine Street and reviewed the project summary dated July 19, 2016.  Anna 
said that she did discuss with the applicant alternative composite materials instead of the 
clay tile and have asked for additional information which staff has not received at this 
time. 
 
Applicant Representative, Dee Perry, said that the mission of AMS Title Co. is to give 
away money to the community in the form of grants as well as to create attractive and 
safe buildings. Dee said that the clay tile is very heavy and extremely expensive to 
remove and that they have received pricing for slate tile, metal seemed roofing and 
asphalt roofing.  Dee said that they would prefer to go with something that will last 
longer then asphalt.  Dee pointed out that the pictures included in the packet are taken 
from across the street as it is difficult to see the roof otherwise.  Connie Lundquist asked 
what the coast of asphalt would be.  Dee replied that the asphalt would be $78,000, the 
slate would be $103,000 and the metal would be $73,000.  Connie asked what the life 
expectancy of the asphalt would be.  Dee replied about 20 years.  Gary Massanek asked if 



Draft 2 

4 
 

they looked into the composite.  Dee replied that it is more expensive then the slate.  
Gary and Laura both said that they are surprised to hear that the composite is more 
expensive.  Dee replied that the roofer informed her that a grade A composite would be 
$30,000 more and a grade C would be $5,000 more than the slate.   
 
Chair Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment.  
 
James Whittemore, Attorney and member or the AMS Title Board, stressed that all of the 
revenue generated from this building, aside from the money spent to maintain the 
building, goes back into the community in grants to non-profit organizations in 
Brunswick and abutting towns.  James said that AMS Title supports the Senter fund and 
if there is $25,000 that they do not need to spend on roofing materials, then that is 
$25,000 more that can go back into the community.   
 
Chair Gary Massanek closed the public comment period. 
 
Annee Tara said that she believes that in keeping with the mission of supporting the 
community the applicant maintain the architectural significance; in her opinion metal 
roofing wouldn’t be the same.  Laura Lienert reference the VRB Design Guidelines and 
said that clay tiles are one of the longest lasting roofing materials.  Laura reiterated that 
she is surprised of the cost estimate for the composite material and wonders if the 
applicant needs to do a little more research with this in mind.  Connie Lundquist agrees 
with Annee and Laura and said that metal does not approach the guidelines. Connie 
suggested that the applicant do more research.  Dee pointed out that many roofers have 
denied the roof due to its logistics, but she is happy to go back and do more research on 
the composite material if that is what the Board wants to see.   
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST TO TABLE THE APPLICATION.  
MOTION SECONDED BY ANNEE TARA, MOVED UNANIMOUSLY.       
 
4. Case # VRB 16-026 – 0 Abbey Road/22Pleasant Street (Tao Yuan Restaurant) – 
The Board will discuss and take action on a Certificate of Appropriateness for an updated 
design of renovations/new construction previously approved on March 17, 2015(now 
expired) at 0 Abbey Road/22 Pleasant Street (Map U13, Lot 52).   
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application and reviewed the project summary dated July 
19, 2016 for Tao Yuan Restaurant.  Anna pointed out that the Certificate of 
Appropriateness was never issued for the previous application because the Conditions of 
Approval were never satisfied.   
 
Applicant representative, David Matero, asked what materials staff did not receive 
information on.  Anna Breinich replied that they are still waiting on information for the 
doors and garage door.  David replied that Cecile Stadler, applicant, forwarded this 
information along via email.  Cecile confirmed that she sent a very lengthy email with 
large attachments.  Anna replied that she did not receive it.  David reviewed the project 
materials and said that the garage door will be similar to the adjacent townhouse garage 



Draft 2 

5 
 

door.  David reviewed the polycarbonate greenhouse, retail space, office space and 
commercial kitchen. Gary Massanek said that he didn’t remember the north end being 
closed off in the original application.  Kate Holcomb, representative, replied that they 
realized that they do not need the light from the north end as much for efficiency. Kate 
said that by closing this end off, it aids in heat retention and will also provide a better 
buffer to the adjacent residential property.  Kate pointed out that lighting, sound and 
exhaust fans were a concern previously.  Connie Lundquist asked how they plan to keep 
the light inside at night.  Kate replied that there would be a heat curtain and a light 
blocker as discussed during the previous approval.  Kate added that they won’t be 
lighting the greenhouse throughout the night and will be using LED lights.  David 
pointed out that the lights will be sitting 6 inches off the floor, not hanging.  Laura 
clarified that the curtain is horizontal across the whole floor.  Laura asked about dumpster 
location and screening.  David replied that there will be a cedar fence and that the 
dumpster is closer to Tao Yaun and the post office; the location is the same as in the 
previous approval.  Gary asked what they plan to do in terms of retail.  Cara Stadler, 
applicant, replied that they will be opening a bakery / café.   
 
Chair Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment. 
 
Stew Russell, of Topsham, said that the applicant has worked very hard to bring the finest 
restaurant to this area and believes that anything the Board can do to support this business 
would be beneficial to the community. 
 
Chair Gary Massanek closed the public comment period. 
 
Laura Lienert pointed out that the conditions imposed upon the applicant were based 
upon a different design then what is being proposed now.  Anna Breinich noted that this 
is not an amendment, but a new application and suggested that applicant pull up the email 
sent to staff that describes the materials better.  Cecile Stadler reviewed the email of 
7/13/2016 and forwarded it again to Anna.  Gary Massanek asked if they still planned on 
using aluminum clad windows as listed in the application.  David Matero replied that he 
would prefer aluminum, but that this is a mistake and the proposed windows are 
fiberglass.  Anna asked if the windows were double hung or casement.  David replied that 
they are proposing casement and pointed out that the adjacent Townhouses have some 
casement windows.  David said that the windows have divided light, and double glazed 
and would be for the lower office and lower retail sections.  David said that the garage 
door is a Raynod panel door and is located on the bottom floor facing the Townhouses; 
the door looks similar to the Townhouse garage door. Gary said that he feels that the 
design is very exciting and that it has really been improved. Gary pointed out that this is 
not a historic building and it is not going to look like one, but it will be very nice.  Gary 
said that he wishes that the north end would be open, but that this is the least visible and 
can work.  Connie agrees that this particular rendition meets the standards better than the 
previous rendition.  Laura said that she did like elements of the old design that were more 
residential, the new design reminds her of the train station.  Laura said that she does not 
like the casement windows, but she does like that there is siding on the north side.  Laura 
asked why the applicant abandoned the decking and moved towards metal grading.  



Draft 2 

6 
 

David replied that this is lighter material and will prevent water and snow from 
accumulating.  Per Annee’s request, Kate described the greenhouse / aquaponics.  
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS BE DEEMED COMPLETE. MOTION SECONDED BY 
ANNEE TARA, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.    
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 
NEW STRUCTURE AT 22 PLEASANT STREET / 5 ABBEY ROAD WITH THE 
FOLLOWING CONDITIONS: 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and 
oral comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and 
members of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the 
approved plan not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise 
approved by the Director of Planning and Development as a minor 
modification, shall require further review and approval in accordance with the 
Brunswick Zoning Ordinance.   

2. The specifications shall be provided for residential style cut-off lighting 
fixtures for review and approval by the Director of Planning and 
Development. 

MOTION SECONDED BY ANNEE TARA, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
  
5. Case # VRB 16-027 - WORKSHOP - 35-39 Pleasant Street (St. John’s Church) – 
The Board will offer guidance regarding the new construction of a 14,685 sq. ft. events 
center at 35-39 Pleasant Street (Map U16, Lots 47-48).    
 
Anna Breinich said that she did not have anything formal to present and that in 
subsequent meetings with the applicant representative, Kevin Clark of Sitelines, 
suggested that this be handled as a workshop setting first. 
 
Kevin Clark, of Sitelines, presented a PowerPoint presentation reviewing the status of the 
project to date.  Scott Simons reviewed the conceptual plan for the building.   
 
Chair Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment. 
 
Charlie Wiercinski, one of the four chairs heading the project, addressed the lack of 
facilities available for All Saint’s Parish gatherings and the status of fundraising.  Charlie 
expressed that they want to have feedback in order to address any concerns that the Board 
may have so that they can move forward with this project.   
 
Mitchell Brown, resident of 46 Pleasant Street, expressed his concerns that this building 
will change the composition of this neighborhood and the multiple uses it will have.  



Draft 2 

7 
 

Mitchell asked if the school needs a building this big and asked if this building really 
adds to the residential area that he resides in.  Mitchell is concerned with the way the 
Common Development Plan will be used to override the Zoning District.  Mitchell asked 
what happens to noise and the mulit-uses of this building.  
 
Chair Gary Massanek closed the public comment period. 
 
Connie Lundquist said that she does not have any recommendations at this point.  Laura 
Lienert said that in moving forward she understands what Mitchell Brown has expressed 
with the size, and questions whether the size is compatible with the existing 
neighborhood. Laura suggested that the applicant look at screening more as well as 
eliminating portions, such as the kitchen, to cut down the scale of the building.  Laura 
said that 104 feet, even with windows, should also be looked at further.  Per Laura’s 
request, Anna Breinich described the intent of the Common Development Plan.  Charlie 
Wiercinski expressed that he is uncomfortable with the discussion over mass and scale 
and the Common Development Plan as this is outside the VRB.  Anna said that mass and 
scale is under the VRB purview.   Charlie said that they cannot build the building under 
14,000 sq. ft. and still meet the needs of the parish.  Gary Massanek suggested that they 
rethink the location of the back door as the preliminary plans show the entrance on the 
residence side.  Gary said that he likes the design, but that the design turns inward and 
does not great the public.      
 
6. Other Business: Workshop to be scheduled for September. 
 
7. Approval of Minutes: 
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF APRIL 
26, 2016 AS AMENDED.  MOTION SECONDED BY LAURA LIENERT , 
APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY AMONG THOSE PRESENT.   
 
8. Next Meeting Date – August 16, 2016 
 
Staff Approvals:   

o 80 Pleasant Street – Signage o 50 Maine Street – Replacement Awning 
 
Adjourn 
This meeting was adjourned at 10:17 P.M. 
 
Respectfully Submitted 
 
Tonya Jenusaitis, 
Recording Secretary 



Draft 1 

1 
 

 
VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 

AUGUST 16, 2016 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Chair Gary Massanek, Vice Chair Connie Lundquist (arrived 
at 7:21), Laura Lienert, Annee Tara, and Karen Topp 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT: Brooks Stoddard 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Director of Planning and Development, Anna Breinich 
 
A meeting of the Village Review Board was held on Tuesday, August 16, 2016 at the 
Municipal Meeting Facility at 85 Union Street, Council Chambers. Chair Gary Massanek 
called the meeting to order at 7:15 P.M. 
 
Gary Massanek stated that Emily Swan has stepped down as member of the Village 
Review Board and expressed his sincere sadness over the loss.  Emily will be 
remembered as great asset to the Town and the Board thanks her for her many years of 
devotion and service.  
 
Karen Topp recused herself from the meeting as she is a Bowdoin employee. 
 
1. Case # VRB 16-023 – 15 Bath Road (90-Day Demolition Delay begun 6/21/16) – The 
Board will receive a progress update and continue consultation with the applicant per 
Section 216.8.B.2.c.1) b) ii) (Additional Processing Requirements for Relocation or 
Demolition Activities).  The applicant, Bowdoin College, has requested a Certificate of 
Appropriateness for the demolition of a residential structure at 15 Bath Road (Map U08, 
Lot 108), located within the federally-designated Federal Street Historic District. 
 
Anna Breinich provided an overview of the 90-day demolition delay.  Del Wilson of 
Bowdoin College, referenced and reviewed Catherine Ferdinand’s email regarding the 
status of the demolition delay dated August 3, 2016.  Laura Lienert asked of Bowdoin has 
heard from Sagadahoc Preservation.  Del replied that they have and were told that they 
were not aware of any specific interested parties.  Gary Massanek asked staff, if no viable 
parties are found for relocation, when can the Board expect to see this on the agenda.  
Anna replied that this will be on the next scheduled VRB agenda. 
 
MOTION BY ANNEE TARA TO TABLE THE DISCUSSION TO THE NEXT 
SCHEDULED MEETING.  MOTION SECONDED BY LAURA LIENERT, 
MOVED UNANIMOUSLY AMONG THOSE VOTING. 
 
Karen Topp returned as a voting member. 
 
 
 
 



Draft 1 

2 
 

2. Tabled Case # VRB 16-024 – 185 Park Row – The Board will discuss and take 
action on a tabled request for a Certificate of Appropriateness for proposed renovations to 
front staircase at 185 Park Row (Map U08, Lot 111), located within the federally-
designated Federal Street Historic District.  Additional information was requested of the 
applicant at the July 19, 2016 Board meeting. 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application for a new railing and steps at 185 Park Row 
and reminded the Board that this application was heard at the previous VRB meeting of 
July 19, 2016; it was determined at that time that the Board wished for more information 
on the type of the railing.    
 
Dee Perry, applicant representative, provided an example of a previously VRB approved 
railing and said that once the granite is installed, the fabricator will come out to make a 
railing similar in style to the example provided.  Laura Lienert asked if the brick walkway 
was being altered at all. Dee said “no”.  Karen Topp asked about the railway along the 
walkway.  Dee said that the fabricator will continue the railing down the walkway. 
 
Chair Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment period was closed. 
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST TO DEEM THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS COMPLETE. MOTION SECONDED BY KAREN TOPP, 
APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF THE 
FRONT ENTRY AND STAIRS WITH GRANITE MATERIAL AND CUSTOM 
RAILING AS SUBMITTED WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:  

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance.    

MOTION SECONDED BY LAURA LIENERT, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Draft 1 

3 
 

3. Tabled Case # VRB 16-025 – 124 Maine Street (Senter Place) – The Board will 
discuss and take action on a tabled request for a Certificate of Appropriateness for a 
partial roof replacement at 124 Maine Street (Map U13, Lot 66), located within the 
federally-designated Brunswick Commercial Historic District. Additional information 
was requested of the applicant at the July 19, 2016 Board meeting. 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application for roof replacement at 112-124 Maine Street 
and reminded the Board that this application was heard at the previous VRB meeting of 
July 19, 2016; it was determined at that time that the Board wished for more information 
on the type of roofing materials for replacement of what is presently clay tiles. 
 
Dee Perry, applicant representative, said that she has gone back to a number of contracts 
and are now proposing to go with a slate tile instead of asphalt or composite.  Annee Tara 
said that she appreciates this choice over the metal roofing that was proposed previously.  
Laura Lienert said that although this project is nice, it is very different over what is 
currently on the roof; Laura does not agree that slate tile is appropriate over clay and 
wonders if there could be uniformity in the color of the slate.  Annee Tara pointed out 
that the clay tiles are variegated.  Connie Lundquist said that she is not sure if you can 
choose one or two colors for the tiles.  Dee replied that she believes that the contractor 
buys the tiles in bulk and that’s what they get.  Gary Massanek referenced the meeting 
materials for the July 19th meeting and said that those pictures showed a significant 
variation on the roof. Gary believes that the roof (slate) will blend and become a more 
homogenous tone.  Gary asked if they did a search for clay tiles.  Dee said that she does 
not believe that they are available anymore.   
 
Chair Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment was closed.  
 
MOTION BY ANNEE TARA THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. MOTION 
SECONDED BY LAURA LIENERT, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

MOTION BY ANNEE TARA THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF AN 
ORIGINAL CLAY TILE ROOF WITH NATURAL SLATE MATERIALS, AS 
DOCUMENTED BY THE APPLICANT IN AN EMAIL DATED 8/11/16 AND 
FURTHER ILLUSTRATED DURING THE 8/16/16 MEETING, WITH THE 
FOLLOWING CONDITION:    

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance.  



Draft 1 

4 
 

MOTION SECONDED BY KAREN TOP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
4. Case # VRB 16-032 – 16 Union Street – The Board will discuss and take action on a 
Certificate of Appropriateness for siding replacement at 16 Union Street (Map U14, Lot 
83A). 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application for a non-contributing structure within the 
Village Review Zone at 16 Union Street for siding replacement.  Anna reviewed the 
project summary dated August 16, 2016. 
 
The applicant representative, Chuck Frohmiller passed around examples for the Board to 
view; the color will be Boothbay Blue.  
 
Chair Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment period was closed. 
 
Connie Lundquist stated that she is familiar with the look of hardie plank and is 
comfortable with the applicant’s decision.  Laura Lienert asked if the applicant will be 
painting the brown around the windows.  Chuck Frohmiller replied that he does not know 
and is just replacing the siding.   
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. MOTION 
SECONDED BY KAREN TOP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.  

MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF 
EXISTING WOOD SIDING WITH HARDIE PLANK SIDING AT 16 UNION 
STREET WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITION:  

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance.   

MOTION SECONDED BY KAREN TOP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.  
 
 
 
 



Draft 1 

5 
 

5. Case # VRB 16-033 – 39 Union Street – The Board will discuss and take action on a 
Certificate of Appropriateness for the placement of a shed at 39 Union Street (Map U13, 
Lot 47).  
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application for a shed to the rear of the property at 39 
Union Street and reviewed the project summary dated august 16, 2016.  Anna said that 
the proposed shed will be slightly visible from the street and is roughly 4*8 feet.  Anna 
noted that because of impervious surface, this shed just meets the setback requirements. 
 
Chanel Fortin, applicant representative, clarified the location of the shed between the 
spruce tree and the property line.  Karen Topp asked if it would be possible to place the 
shed in the back along the bushes.  Chanel replied that Mr. Fortin is 82 years old and 
would like to do his own yard work and shoveling; they would like the shed as close to 
the house as possible.  Anna Breinich said that the location deals with lot width; once the 
application is submitted to the Code Enforcement Office, they can try calculate the shed 
as close as they can to the house.  Chanel noted that this shed is not a permanent structure 
and will be easily removed.   
 
Chair Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment period was closed.  
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. MOTION 
SECONDED BY ANNEE TARA, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.  

MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE NEW PLACEMENT OF AN 
ACCESSORY SHED AT 39 UNION STREET WITH THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITION:  

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance.   

MOTION SECONDED BY ANNEE TARA, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.  
 
 
 
 
 



Draft 1 

6 
 

6. Case # VRB 16-001 – 15 Jordan Avenue (Revised Design) – The Board will discuss 
and take action regarding a revised design for a previously approved replacement 
structure at 15 Jordan Avenue (Map U08, Lot 41).  The Certificate of Appropriateness 
was issued for the previous design on April 26, 2016. 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application for redesign at 15 Jordan Avenue and reminded 
the Board that the original design was approved at the meeting of April 26, 2016.  Anna 
reviewed her Memo to the Board dated August 12, 2016. 
 
Applicant, Leo Theberge, said that after obtaining estimates from the contractors, the cost 
was more than intended and several things were eliminated including the second floor.  
Leo said that they would like to expand the garage a little and go with an 8 pitch roof.  
Gary Massanek asked if the windows will be pairs of one over one, double hung.  Leo 
replied that they will be.  Gary asked if the door to the shop will be Craftsman style 
glazed.  Leo replied that it will be and added that the door to the garage will be a six 
panel door.  Connie Lundquist asked if any casement windows are going in.  Leo replied 
that there is a casement window in the bathroom. Gary asked if the siding would be 
clapboard.  Leo replied that it will be vinyl clapboard on the bottom and shingle style on 
the gable end; this is not changing from the original application.   
 
Chair Gary Massanek opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment period was closed. 
 
Karen Topp pointed out that the west side will be most visible from the Federal Street 
side coming down Jordan Ave, and said that she understands why they want a casement 
window in the bathroom, but asked why the middle windows don’t match the south or 
front.  Leo replied (Leo’s response is inaudible as he was speaking in front of Karen).  
Laura Lienert said that during the original application, there was a lot of talk about the 
desire to have the craftsman style window. This was overturned, but she is not sure about 
having the Craftsman grills in the proposed front door if there will not be anything 
similar on the rest of the structure.  Karen replied that she did not remember exactly why 
they overturned the decision, but knows that that they do not have anything for new 
construction in the design standards.  Gary replied that the point is that the Board cannot 
specify whether the door is craftsman or mono-pained.  Laura asked the applicant if he 
loved the Craftsman door or would the plain window be OK.  Leo replied that there is a 
house on School Street with the same Craftsman style door.  Connie Lundquist said that 
she believes that what Laura is trying to get is a consistency in this house.   
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION BE DEEMED COMPLETE. MOTION 
SECONDED BY ANNEE TARA, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

MOTION BY KAREN TOP TO APPROVE THE REDESIGN AS SUBMITTED 
AND FURTHER RECOMMENDED NO GRIDS BE INSERTED IN THE FULL 
GLASS DOOR SO AS TO BE CONSISTENT WITH NO-GRID WINDOWS TO 



Draft 1 

7 
 

BE USED THROUGHOUT THE STRUCTURE. MOTION SECONDED BY 
ANNEE TARA, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.        

Other Business: 
 Karen Topp recused herself from the meeting as she is an employee of Bowdoin 

College. 
 

In reference to the letter from Maine Preservation, Connie Lundquist asked what 
it meant by “we hope the college will note the significant features enumerated by 
Kurt” (Mahoney of Maine Historic Preservation Commission- MHPC).  Gary 
Massanek replied that he believes this means to photograph and document the 
significant features.  Anna Breinich added that this has already been requested by 
MHPC.  Connie said that she would like a direct statement from Bill Paxton that 
in the event someone does not purchase this building, Maine Preservation is OK 
with demolishing it. 

 
Karen Topp returned to the meeting. 

 
 Anna Breinich to schedule a workshop date.  Connie Lundquist suggested that 

they ask Emily Swan to attend the workshop to assist the Board. 
 
8. Approval of Minutes   
 
MOTION BY KAREN TOP TO TPPROVE THE MINUTES OF MARCH 30, 2016.  
MOTION SECONDED BY LAURA LIENERT, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY 
AMONG THOSE PRESENT. 
 
Staff Approvals:  

o 22-24 Cumberland St – Exterior Entry Stairs  
o 49 Cumberland St – Porch Railings & Latticework 

 
Adjourn 
This meeting was adjourned at 8:17 P.M. 
 
Respectfully Submitted 
 
Tonya Jenusaitis, 
Recording Secretary 



Draft 1 

1 
 

 
VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 

SEPTEMBER 12, 2016 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT: Chair Gary Massanek, Vice Chair Connie Lundquist, Laura 
Lienert and Karen Topp 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT: Annee Tara 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Director of Planning and Development, Anna Breinich; Emily 
Swan, Former VRB Member (left at 5:42) 
 
A meeting of the Village Review Board was held on Tuesday, September 12, 2016 at the 
Municipal Meeting Facility at 85 Union Street, Meeting Room 206, Second Floor. Chair 
Gary Massanek called the meeting to order at 5:00 P.M. 
 
WORKSHOP: The Village Review Board will hold a workshop session to discuss 
Village Review Zone Design Guidelines and Section 216, Village Review Overlay Zone 
of the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance.    
 

1. VRZ Chronology/2013 Planning Board/VRB and Town Council determinations.  

Gary Massanek referenced the materials provided to the Board by Anna Breinich.  
Anna reviewed the materials she provided on how the Village Review Board 
came about, how they went about expanding the VRB Zone and chronology going 
back to 2/26/1985.  Anna said that the Village Review District was not originally 
designed to be a Historic District, but more of a design review zone.  Discussion 
regarding possible expansion and the Comprehensive Plan. Member were in 
agreement that Page and Potter Street to be discussed as part of the next VRB 
expansion. Anna explained that the Board will need the support of an architectural 
study in order to go beyond Page and Potter Streets.  Gary Massanek asked what 
the criteria was to be part of the VRZ.  Anna replied that there is no criteria and 
that this is something that needs to be addressed.  Emily Swan suggested that in 
terms of expanding the zone, they should prioritize areas of interest. Anna to 
provide the results for the inventory for Page and Potter Street. Per Laura 
Lienert’s request, Anna explained how the Comprehensive Plan and Guidelines 
are figured into the budget and how projects are funded.  

Connie Lundquist and Anna Breinich discussed the lack of direction for new 
construction in the VRZ.    

Anna suggested that the Board also consider looking into jurisdiction (area) and 
referenced the Memo dated 2/13/2013 and reviewed the 4 different alternatives.  
Anna defined what she sees as a Historic District versus what Brunswick 
currently has per Gary Massanek’s request. Claudia Knox, audience member, 



Draft 1 

2 
 

provided more information on what a district consists of and what is worthy of 
listing.  Anna to forward examples / list of Historic Districts to VRB members.     

2. Guidelines vs. Ordinances - What is binding and when might they not be followed?  

To be discussed at another workshop. 

3. What is the relationship of Federal Historic Standards, the SHPO and the VRB.  

To be discussed at another workshop. 

4. What is a “hardship” for an applicant?  

Request for more information / background by staff.  Connie Lundquist to work 
on additional information.  

5. What does “ Every reasonable effort should be made” in the Guidelines Part III mean?  

Request for more information / background by staff. Connie Lundquist to work on 
additional information.  

6. What is a “reasonable economic return”? Section 5.2.7(C)((4)(ii)*.   

Request for more information / background by staff. Connie Lundquist to work on 
additional information.  

7. Should substitute materials that match original in appearance be acceptable (new 
synthetic materials)? When should it be considered “impossible” to match original 
materials. Guidelines Part III 6. Sign ordinance - Basic overview.  

Karen Topp and Connie Lundquist agree that they would like more information 
on this.  

8. Staff Review - What triggers a board review? Section 5.2.7(B)((3)(b)*.  

 To be discussed at another workshop. 

9. Sign Ordinance - Basic overview.  

 To be discussed at another workshop. 

10. Should the review criteria of “visual compatibility with existing mass, scale and 
materials of the surrounding contributing resources” for new construction be expanded?  

Per Gary Massanek, this item was somewhat tied into the discussion for #1, but 
will be addressed further at another meeting.   



Draft 1 

3 
 

11. Should Section 5.2.7(C)((2)(i)* of the Ordinance be amended to more clearly permit 
or prohibit side lot parking when the applicant demolishes an old building and proceeds 
with brand new construction.  

Staff to provide updated language to members for discussion.   

12. How should solar panels be reviewed under Section 5.2.7(C)((2)(iv)*.  

Anna Breinich referenced the revised solar section for the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance. To be discussed further.  Connie Lundquist to provide to members 
what she has found regarding solar panels.     

* - Denotes reference to the June 2016 Zoning Ordinance Draft  

Next Workshop 
Next workshop to be scheduled.  
 
Adjourn 
This meeting was adjourned at 6:15 P.M. 
 
Respectfully Submitted 
 
Tonya Jenusaitis, 
Recording Secretary 


	vrb agenda 10.26
	vrb_20161021152856
	VRB.7.19.16
	VRB.8.16.16
	VRB.9.12.16

